1967

Mary Jane Reece Phillips v. Wendell Bennett, Adm.
of the Estate Of Oneita S. Wolfe, Deceased :
Appellant's Brief

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is taken by the Appellant from the judgment of the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in and for Utah County, State of Utah.

BELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant is of the opinion that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury to disregard payment

of plaintiff's medical expenses by a third party, and that such failure to instruct was prejudicial error. Appellant seeks a new trial.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Is it prejudicial error for a trial court to allow in evidence the payment of medical benefits by plaintiff's insurer and to refuse an instruction to the jury that such evidence must not be considered in evaluating plaintiff's damages?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 1964, appellant, Mrs. Phillips, a resident of Springville, Utah, was involved in an automobile collision at Fourth South and State Street in Provo, Utah. Respondent ran his automobile into the back of appellant's car causing damage to the car and personal injuries to appellant. The day following the accident, appellant reported to Dr. N. O. Parker of Springville for treatment of pain in her neck and back regions. After a series of visits by the appellant to his office, Dr. Parker referred appellant to Dr. E. H. Chapman, an orthopedic surgeon practicing in Provo, Utah, for further treatment. Dr. Chapman placed the appellant in Utah Valley Hospital, which hospitalization continued from January 20 to January 27, of 1965. Although released from the hospital, appellant continued to experience pain and suffering as a result of her injury.

On March 11, 1965, appellant was involved in a very minor accident in which she backed her automobile into a utility pole at a grocery store. She reported the accident

to Dr. Chapman at his office the next day. Mrs. Phillips testified that the second accident was of minor consequence, that while she had a temporary inflammation of her condition it shortly returned to the condition which prevailed before the second accident and that she continued at the plateau of recovery reached from her first injury (Page 20 of the Record). Dr. Chapman stated that he did not attach great significance to the second accident and that substantially all of the appellant's injuries occurred in the first accident (Page 62 of Record).

Counsel for the defendant in his argument to the jury emphasized the second accident. The substance of his argument was that one could not adequately apportion as between the first and second accident the damages occurring subsequent to the second accident. Consequently, he argued, the jury should award the appellant only those expenses and general damages sustained subsequent to the first, but prior to the second accident. It was his calculation that the appellant had sustained only damages of \$410.54 as follows:

Exhibit #

2	N. L. Parker, M.D. (Professional Services 11/11/64—1/13/65)	35.00
3	J. R. Monnahan, M.D. (X-Ray Services 11/18/64)	25.00
4	Utah Valley Hospital (Hospitalization 1/20/65—1/27/65)	263.50
8	E. H. Chapman, M.D. (Professional Services 1/14/65—1/27/65)	55.00
9	Deon's, Inc. (Cervical Pillow)	6.16

10 Deon's, Inc. (Traction Device)	25.88
	<hr/>
	\$410.54

Counsel for plaintiff, arguing that in view of the minor nature of the second accident all plaintiff's medical and hospital expenses should be included, calculated additional special damages as follows:

Exhibit #		
5 Utah Valley Hospital (Physical Therapy and Related Services 4/2/65—5/7/67)		\$424.50
7 Utah Valley Hospital (Hospitalization 9/16/66—9/25/66)		372.25
8 E. H. Chapman, M.D. (Professional Services 3/12/65—6/30/67)		84.00
		<hr/>
Add Defendant's Calculation:		\$410.54
		<hr/>
		\$1291.29

There were thus two theories of special damages given, respectively, \$410.54 and \$1291.29. Disregarding this evidence, however, the jury brought back a verdict of special damages in the amount of \$500.00 (See page 73 of the Record).

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT
THE JURY THAT THEY WERE NOT TO CONSIDER

MEDICAL OR HOSPITAL BENEFITS PAID BY BLUE CROSS-BLUE SHIELD OR ANY OTHER THIRD PARTY.

During the course of the trial, it became necessary to introduce hospital records, which records had notations reflecting payment by Blue Cross (Exhibits 4, 5 and 7). At the time these records were introduced in evidence, appellant's counsel had an off the record conference with the court and respondent's counsel concerning the necessity of an instruction to the jury as to how to treat these records in the light of such notations. The court requested counsel for the appellant to submit an instruction for its consideration, which was done at the beginning of the second day of trial.

After both sides had rested, counsel for the appellant argued the merits of submitting requested instructions relating to payments by a third party to the jury, but the court refused the request. It is submitted that this refusal was error on the part of the Judge and was so prejudicial in its nature that a new trial should be granted to the appellant.

It is a well settled rule of law that the amount recoverable by an injured person in a tortious personal injury case is not decreased by the fact that the injured party has been wholly or partly indemnified for the loss by proceeds from accident insurance. *Anheuser-Busch, Inc. v. Staley*, 28 Cal 2d 347, 170 P 2d 448, 166 ALR 198 (recognizing rule). *Peri v. Los Angeles Junction Railroad Co.*, 22 Cal 2d 111, 137 P2d 441. This universally accepted rule, often called the "collateral source" rule, applies to virtually all types of insurance: Health and accident in-

insurance, *Farb v. Borsuk*, 205 Misc 448, 128 NYS2d 413 (1954); *Joiner v. Fort*, 226 SC 249, 84 SE2d 719, (1954); *Campbell v. Sutliff* 193 Wis 370, 214 NW 374 (1927); Hospitalization, *Gersick v. Shilling*, 97 Cal App 2d 641, 218 P2d 583 (1950); *Roth v. Chatlos*, 97 Conn 282, 116 A 332 (1922); Workman's Compensation Insurance, *Sheffield Co. v. Phillips*, 69 Ga App 41, 24 SE2d 834 (1943); *Coker v. Five-Two Taxi Service, Inc.*, 211 Miss 820, 52 So 2d 356 (1951).

The above cited *Gersick* case was an automobile accident case, similar to the case at bar. On cross-examination defendant's counsel, over objection, was permitted to elicit from plaintiff the information that most of her hospital bills had been paid by Blue Cross, with whom she had a policy, and that she had drawn \$460.00 from the United States Employment Service for disability. The Appellate Court held that it was error to have admitted this testimony. It further noted that total or partial compensation received by an injured party from a collateral source, wholly independent of the wrongdoer, does not operate to reduce the damages recoverable from the wrongdoer. The court then went on to note that in this particular case the Judge had remedied his error by fully, fairly and properly instructing the jury that if the jury found defendant liable, plaintiff was entitled to recover for all expenses incurred, and that the amount of damages should not be reduced by amounts paid by third parties in respect of the damage. *Gersick*, supra, 218 P2d at 589. This kind of instruction was refused in the case at bar, thus providing no safeguard against prejudicial use of the evidence by the jury.

The reasoning of the *Gersick* case was followed in the recent *Hickenbottom v. Jeppeson*, 300 P2d 689, 141

CA 2d 115. Therein the defendant was similarly allowed to elicit from the plaintiff upon cross-examination the fact that her insurance company had paid a large measure of her personal injury expenses. Again the Appellate Court stated, "THOSE QUESTIONS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED". (emphasis added). Again, however, serious prejudice was avoided by giving proper instruction to the jury that they were not to take into consideration the fact that plaintiff's insurance company had paid a percentage of her damages. Again, there is no such exonerating instruction to the jury in the case at bar. Consistent with the authorities there is but one recourse: that is to declare the admission of evidence of Blue Cross-Blue Shield coverage reversible error.

In her arguments to the court in respect to the appellant's requested instructions which were submitted to the court in the alternative, the appellant contended that the jury was likely to believe that the appellant had been reimbursed for the sum she sought as special damage and was seeking to recover twice. They would be prone to believe she was greedy and was deliberately misleading the court and jury by not advising them that she had been paid once, and that she was seeking to be paid twice for the same injury. In the absence of correct instruction, the jury might also conclude from the evidence as to payment by the insurer of special damages that appellant's claim for general damages was exaggerated and as a result significantly reduce general damages as well. Without benefit of the tendered instructions, the jury was almost certainly prejudiced against the appellant by the introduction of the hospital records indicating payment from a third source.

The fears expressed by counsel in arguing for the requested instructions are confirmed by the judgment. Appellant had conclusively proven that she had been severely injured, that she had sustained a 10 percent permanent disability as related to total body function and that her injuries were substantially the result of the first accident. It is, therefore, probable that the jury would have found substantially greater damages had they not been exposed to the evidence complained of, or had they received proper instruction.

POINT 2

THERE IS NO BASIS IN FACT FOR THE JURY TO HAVE RETURNED A VERDICT OF \$500.00 AS SPECIAL DAMAGES.

A VERDICT IN THIS AMOUNT DEMONSTRATES THAT THE JURY FAILED TO CONSIDER THE EVIDENCE AND WERE MOTIVATED BY PASSION, BIAS AND PREJUDICE.

A comparison of the calculations of special damage by the parties reveals that the finding of the jury was unrelated to the proof submitted. The amount arrived at by the jury can neither be supported from the plaintiff's view of the facts, nor from the defendant's view of the facts. The verdict with respect to special damages must have been either \$410.54 or \$1291.29. By no rational calculation based on the evidence could the jury have arrived at the figure of \$500.00. It is respectfully submitted that the figure was arrived at arbitrarily by the jury and probably represented a token offered to the plaintiff in view of payments by a third party. The amount given by the

jury appears to be somewhat related to the amount of expenses unpaid by Blue Cross-Blue Shield. It is not unlikely that the jury arrived at its figure by deducting from appellant's total special damages an amount equivalent to that which was paid by Blue Cross-Blue Shield.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff-appellant respectfully urges the Court to grant her request for a new trial on the grounds: (1) that the trial court's refusal to give the requested instruction regarding payments by a third party was prejudicial and reversible error and (2) that there was no basis in fact for an award of special damages in the amount given.