1968

Mary Jane Reece Phillips v. Wendell Bennett, Adm.  
of the Estate Of Oneita S. Wolfe, Deceased :  
Respondent's Brief

### STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by plaintiff against defendant to recover damages for injuries arising out of an automobile accident in Provo, Utah, on November 10, 1964. The vehicle being operated by the plaintiff was struck in the rear by a vehicle operated by defendant, Oneita S. Wolfe, now deceased, but not as a result of the accident. The action is against her administrator.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Joseph E. Nelson, Judge, sitting with a jury in Provo, Utah. The

trial judge directed a verdict against defendant with respect to liability. The jury brought in a verdict for the sum of \$500.00 special damages and \$1,000.00 general damages. Plaintiff filed a motion for a new trial or in the alternative for an additur in the sum of \$9,500.00. The trial court granted an additur of \$700.00 and plaintiff has appealed from this order.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff-appellant seeks a new trial on this appeal on the ground that the court erred in failing to give an instruction requested by plaintiff.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 1964, plaintiff, Mrs. Phillips was involved in a rear-end collision at 4th South and State Street, in Provo, Utah, while driving a 1959 Plymouth station wagon. At that time and place Oneita S. Wolfe, a resident of Wyoming, ran into the rear of the station wagon operated by plaintiff and caused damage thereto and some injury to plaintiff. (See Exhibits 12 and 29 for damage to plaintiff's car).

She saw her family doctor the day after the accident who had one X-ray taken of her neck (R. 140), and prescribed rest and a muscle relaxant for her. (R. 112). She saw Dr. Parker about five times and in January of 1965 she was taking a load of dry cleaning out to Norge Dry Cleaners when something caught in her arm and she could not move it. Dr. Parker then sent her to Dr.

Eugene Chapman, an orthopedist in Provo. (R.115). She was admitted to Utah Valley Hospital on January 20, 1965, where she took therapy treatments and was discharged improved on January 27. (Defendant's Exhibit 11). She had been hospitalized many times before for other things. (R. 140, 153). When she was discharged, the doctors prescribed therapy for her and advised her to return to his office in one week for further advice on activity. (R. 184). She did not return to the doctor one week later nor did she start the therapy he directed at that time. (R. 185, and plaintiff's Exhibit 5). She did not see the doctor again until March 12, 1965.

On March 11, 1965, she was involved in another accident when she backed into a telephone pole at a market. The day following the accident she saw Dr. Chapman again and shortly after that she began to take physical therapy treatments. (R. 150).

She said that at the time she hit the pole she didn't feel pain in her neck but did feel anger for hitting the pole because she knew she was going to be teased by her husband and a few friends, because there were a few people that knew that it happened. (R. 148).

She started taking therapy treatments on April 2, 1965, and continued with them for a long time without consulting the doctor. His records show that she saw him on the 12th of March, 1965, after the accident and then did not see him again until August 29, 1966. (Exhibit 8) (R. 165).

She was examined by him on this occasion and among other things he found a diminished sensation to pin prick of both hands and the right forearm which he had not observed at any previous time. (R. 65, 66). He had her hospitalized in September of 1966 for the purpose of having a myelogram which he claimed showed a disc degeneration in the cervical spine with protrusion in the mid-cervical region (R. 167) but which Dr. Milligan testified showed no evidence of any disc protrusion or defect. (R. 229, 230). Dr. Milligan also testified that at the time of his examination of Mrs. Phillips she complained of a sensory loss to pin prick below the elbow on the right side. (R. 216, 217) and had other complaints that were not consistent with any injury to the cervical area and he found that she had no objective evidence of any residual injury at all. (R. 233). His examination (R. 216-234) reflected that her complaints were psychosomatic. (R. 234). He also testified that a cervical sprain ordinarily heals from three weeks to as long as six months. (R. 234).

She purchased a traction unit in February, 1965, (Exhibit 10) that she claimed (Exhibit 6) she slept in at night and sometimes in the daytime. (R. 123, 124). She claimed she slept in it every night. (R.128). She put it on in court to show the jury how it looked but had difficulty putting the harness on. (R. 125).

She testified that the exhibit consisting of her traction collar, etc., that she used at home was the original equipment purchased. (R. 260). Although she slept in it every night, it appeared new and little used.

As indicated in appellant's brief on page 4 medical bills in the amount of \$410.54 had been incurred by plaintiff up to the time of the second accident and plaintiff had an overall claim of \$1,327.79 for special damages as set forth in Instruction No. 7 (R. 37). This was all medical bills, there being no claim for automobile damages in the complaint. (R.3).

Plaintiff introduced into evidence Exhibits 4, 5 and 7 which were hospital bills. Exhibit No. 4 covered the period of January 20, 1965, to January 27, 1965, and Exhibit No. 7 the hospital bill for the hospitalization of September, 1966. Exhibit 5 is an out-patient bill for therapy treatments commencing in April, 1965, and actually has no reference on it with respect to Blue Cross making any payment thereon as do the other two exhibits.

Counsel for plaintiff submitted two requested instructions on the second day of the trial which are numbered 9 and 10 (R. 55, 57) which the court refused to give. On plaintiff's motion for a new trial or in the alternative for an additur Judge Nelson at time of argument stated he may have possibly been in error in refusing to give an instruction as requested and that he was going to give an additur of \$700.00 to take care of his failure in the event it was error for him not to give such an instruction and this was, therefore, done. (R. 83-88).

From the court's refusal to grant a new trial the plaintiff has appealed.



## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THEY WERE NOT TO CONSIDER MEDICAL OR HOSPITAL BENEFITS PAID BY BLUE CROSS-BLUE SHIELD OR ANY OTHER THIRD PARTY.

Respondent recognizes and accepts the well settled rule of law that the amount recoverable by an injured person in a personal injury case is not decreased by the fact that the injured party has been wholly or partly indemnified for the loss by proceeds from the injured person's accident insurance. The question in the case at bar is whether under the particular facts of this case the plaintiff was prejudiced by the court's failure to give an instruction as requested by the plaintiff and whether or not the prejudice, if any, was corrected by the court's grant of an additur to the judgment of the plaintiff.

In the first instance it was the plaintiff and not the defendant who introduced into evidence the particular exhibits bearing information that Blue Cross was paying part of the medical bills. Counsel for defendant never did argue or mention in argument that any of the medical bills had been paid by insurance and that they were, therefore, not allowable for that reason. As a matter of fact, defendant's counsel argued that the plaintiff had substantially, if not fully, recovered from the effects of the first accident when the second accident

occurred because although the doctor requested she see him in a week, she failed to do so and also did not commence physical therapy as he recommended when she was released from the hospital in January, 1965. Not until after the second accident did she commence physical therapy. One of the exhibits bearing information pertaining to payment by Blue Cross was the hospital bill of the January 20-27, 1965, hospitalization. (Exhibit 4). The court had directed liability against defendant and defendant argued that this is one of the bills that plaintiff was entitled to recover. As defendant recalls, counsel for plaintiff argued the fact that though some of the bills had been paid for by insurance plaintiff was still entitled to recover them and the court advised him he could so argue. Defendant's counsel did not argue to the contrary. The court likewise gave an instruction to the jury that the jury could award such special damages as they found from a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiff was entitled to, not to exceed the sum of \$1,327.79 (R. 37) so that the jury was instructed to the effect that payment of the medical expenses by an insurance company did not preclude the plaintiff's recovery of them from the defendant.

It is the defendant's belief that the jury believed Dr. Milligan who testified that Mrs. Phillips did not have any residual injury and that her complaints were psychosomatic or functional. (R. 222). Although Mrs. Phillips testified she was still having difficulty and in fact was still using a harness at home for traction treatments, she showed no evidence in her actions in court

that she had any disability whatever, and the jury had an opportunity to observe her actions as did the trial judge. She also claimed she used the traction device and had been every night since she secured it and that Exhibit 6, which was withdrawn, was the original equipment she purchased on February 2, 1965. (R. 260). However, the jury and the court had an opportunity to see that the actual harness which fit under the plaintiff's chin and around her face was little worn and looked quite new. This was also pointed out to the jury in defendant's argument.

She testified that the second accident was a minor accident, but it must have been a fairly good bang because she said although she didn't feel any pain in her neck at the time of the accident she did feel anger for hitting the pole because she knew she was going to be teased by her husband and a few friends because there were a few people who knew it happened. (R. 148). If they knew it happened at the time of the accident, they must have seen or heard it and it must have been of sufficient severity to draw attention to it.

These and other facts available to the court and jury during the course of the trial were proper matters for the jury as well as the court to consider in determining who and what to believe and the weight to be given the evidence introduced. The jury was certainly justified in making the finding it did with respect to the damages.

Dr. Milligan testified that her complaints were psychosomatic or functional and that an injury which

she apparently had arising out of the first accident would ordinarily heal within a few weeks up to six months. The jury was not bound by any one witnesses' testimony and might very well have found that in addition to the bills incurred up to the time of the second accident only a small part of the additional bills were necessary or required for the plaintiff.

In the *Gersick* case, 218 P.2d 583 and *Hickenbottom v Jeppeson*, 300 P.2d 689, cited by the plaintiff the trial court erroneously allowed defendant's counsel to elicit from the plaintiff that the plaintiff's medical bills had been paid in part by plaintiff's insurance company and it was then that the court in each instance advised the jury that it should not take into consideration that fact when awarding plaintiff damages. In the case at bar the plaintiff was the one who introduced into evidence the medical bills having the insurance information on them. The cases are distinguishable from that standpoint and as has previously been set forth, the court did advise the jurors that they could award up to the sum of \$1,327.79 in special damages.

Respondent contends that if there was any error in the trial judge's failure to give plaintiff's instruction on the right of plaintiff to recover the medical bills despite the fact some of them had been paid by an insurance company, it was harmless error and did not affect the substantial rights of the parties. Under Rule 61, U.R.C.P., the court should disregard any error or defect in the proceedings which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties. A refusal to give an in-

struction cannot be the basis for reversal unless the jury was insufficiently advised of the issue they were to determine, or it appears that they would have been confused or misled to the prejudice of the person complaining thereof. (*In Re Richards Estate*, 5 U.2d 106, 297 P.2d 542, 545). The jury was not misled because the court instructed them in the instruction on damages that they could find the full amount of the special damages demanded by the plaintiff, plaintiff's counsel argued that they should so find and that insurance payments did not affect the plaintiff's right of recovery and defendant's counsel made no mention of insurance payments in argument but in fact argued that one of the bills paid by an insurance carrier was one of those recoverable under the court's direction of liability by the plaintiff.

Plaintiff knew he was going to introduce the medical bills bearing the information pertaining to insurance and could have had the insurance information eliminated by covering the same over and making a new photocopy.

The fact that the jury gave her \$500.00 in medical bills is an indication that the jury was satisfied that plaintiff was substantially recovered from the first accident at the time the second one occurred.

## POINT II.

THERE WAS A BASIS IN FACT FOR THE JURY TO HAVE RETURNED A VERDICT FOR \$500.00 AS SPECIAL DAMAGES AND SUCH A FINDING DID NOT DEMON-

STRATE THAT THE JURY FAILED TO  
CONSIDER THE EVIDENCE OR WAS  
MOTIVATED BY PASSION, BIAS OR  
PREJUDICE.

There was no proof made or attempted to be made as to the amount paid by Blue Cross or Blue Shield. The jury had no way to determine that which was paid by the insurance company and that which was paid individually. While the jury may not have been able to arrive at a figure of \$500.00 by adding the totals of any particular group of bills together as presented, the jury was not required to find that all of the services on any particular bill was required as a result of the first accident or the second accident. As was stated in the case of *Gersick v. Shilling*, cited by appellant's counsel, supra, "The jury was not bound by the doctors' evaluation and necessity for their services." The jury had a problem determining the extent of the medical services reasonably required as a result of each accident. Doctors Monnahan and Chapman were the only ones appearing to testify for the plaintiff. The therapist did not testify nor did Dr. Parker. It is within the jury's province to determine what services were reasonably required and the amount thereof. The jury was not bound to find that either the sum of \$410.54 or \$1,291.29 was the only sum recoverable for special damages.

The question as to the amount of damages is a question of fact. In the first instance it is for the jury to fix the amount of damages and secondly for the trial judge on a motion for a new trial to pass on the question of adequacy. The appellate court has not seen or heard

the witnesses and has no power to pass upon their credibility. Normally the appellate court has no power to interfere except when the facts before it suggest passion, prejudice or corruption upon part of the jury, or where the uncontradicted evidence demonstrates that the award is insufficient as a matter of law. In determining whether there has been an abuse of discretion, the facts on the issue of damage most favorable to respondent must be considered. *Gersick v. Shilling*, supra.

The trial court has passed upon the question in any event and gave the plaintiff an additur to cover any possible error which may have been made.

## CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully urges the court to deny the appeal of appellant for a new trial on the ground that there was no error in the first instance. That if there was any error the trial court corrected it by giving the plaintiff an additur.